UNITED
NATIONS E

. . Distr.
Economic and Social GENERAL
Council

E/ C. 12/ 1998/ SR. 33
20 November 1998

Original: ENGLISH

COWM TTEE ON ECONOM C, SOCI AL AND CULTURAL RI GHTS
Ni net eent h sessi on
SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 33rd MEETI NG

Hel d at the Palais des Nations, Geneva,
on Wednesday, 18 November 1998, at 10 a.m

Chai rperson: M. ALSTON

CONTENTS
CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS:

(a) REPORTS SUBM TTED BY STATES PARTI ES I N ACCORDANCE W TH ARTI CLES 16
AND 17 OF THE COVENANT

Initial report of Israel (continued)

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submtted in one of the working | anguages. They
shoul d be set forth in a nmenorandum and al so incorporated in a copy of the
record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this docunent to
the O ficial Records Editing Section, roomE. 4108, Pal ais des Nations, Ceneva.

Any corrections to the records of the nmeetings of the Committee at this
session will be consolidated in a single corrigendumto be issued shortly
after the end of the session.

GE. 98-19706 (E)



E/ C. 12/ 1998/ SR. 33
page 2

The neeting was called to order at 10.10 a.m

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS:

(a) REPORTS SUBM TTED BY STATES PARTI ES | N ACCORDANCE W TH ARTI CLES 16
AND 17 OF THE COVENANT (agenda item 6) (continued)

Initial report of Israel (E/1990/5/Add.39; E/C 12/Q 1SR 1;
i n-sessi on docunent with no synbol containing the replies of the
CGovernment of Israel to questions raised on the |ist of issues)

1. The CHAI RPERSON said that the small working group which had net the
previ ous eveni ng had deci ded that the del egation should first reply to the
guestions that had been put concerning closure (questions 12-16 on the list of
issues). The Committee's Rapporteur would then identify the six key issues on
which it would like to hear replies fromthe del egation

2. At the invitation of the Chairperson, the delegation of Israel resuned
their places at the Conmttee table.

3. M. BLASS (Israel), replying to the question about the nurder in 1994 of
Pal estinians by an Israeli at the Tonb of the Fathers in Hebron, said that the
Israeli authorities had decided to inpose closure on Hebron in the wake of
that tragi c event because they feared Pal estinian reprisals.

4, Wth regard to food shortages at tines of closure, in recent years, and
particul arly since Septenber 1997, the Israeli authorities had nade every
effort to permt the free novenent of goods and products into and out of the
Gaza Strip and the West Bank at tinmes when they were subject to closure.

Mor eover, |Israeli data showed that since Septenmber 1997 a significant increase
had occurred in the novenent of products fromthose two territories to |Israel
Jordan and el sewhere.

5. The question of famly reunification in the territories minly affected
those inhabitants of the territories who married foreigners, lived abroad for
some years, and then wished to return to the territories with their famlies,
who were technically citizens of another country. The nunber of such requests
posed a serious inmgration problemfor the authorities. During the
negoti ati ons on the Interim Agreenent, the PLO and |Israel had decided that
they woul d deal with such matters jointly.

6. Since 1995, the two sides had set a quota of 2,000 in each territory for
such requests - the nunber of persons involved being actually far greater
VWile the Gaza Strip quota had been fully taken up fromthe beginning, the

Pal esti ni an popul ati on of the West Bank had at first rejected the procedure,
whi ch involved the Pal estinian side's submtting the names of approved persons
to the Israelis. The two sides had agreed on a new procedure in 1997, when it
had al so been agreed that the West Bank quotas not taken up in 1995 and 1996
woul d be made avail able from 1997. There was thus a backl og of applications
relating to the West Bank that was still being processed.

7. In any case, the Israeli part of the approval process involved nerely
techni cal procedures relating to security, the Pal estinian side being



E/ C. 12/ 1998/ SR. 33
page 3

responsi ble for the major part of the process. Special arrangenents al so
exi sted in respect of sone 900 foreign fam |lies who had petitioned to settle
in the West Bank before 1993. On the whole, he was confident that the

exi sting procedure addressed nost of the problens relating to famly

reuni fication in the West Bank and the Gaza Strip. Naturally, resolving
issues relating to famly reunification was not the same as dealing with the
far greater refugee problemresulting fromthe conflicts of 1948 and 1967;
that must be solved bilaterally during the Final Status negotiations.

8. He was not convinced that closure could have led to price increases,
hi gher di sease rates, or an increase in child | abour, as suggested by nenbers
of the Committee. 1In 1998 closures had so far occurred only in Septemnber,

largely as a result of the new policy inplenmented since Septenber 1997;
M. Riedel's question about closures since March 1998 coul d al so be answered
by reference to that policy.

9. The cl osures which sonetines had to be applied did not serve the
interests of either Israelis or Palestinians. Israel sought to minimze their
effects, and to deal with specific problens inediately they occurred, either
through the courts or in direct dialogue with the Pal estinian authorities.

10. During the past year, closures had not prevented Pal estinians fromthe
Gaza Strip and the West Bank fromgoing to their jobs in Israel. The |atest
(1998) version of the special report on workers in the occupied territories
prepared annually by the Director-General of the International Labour

Organi zation (I1LO) since 1980 showed that the average gross earnings of such
wor kers were increasing, and that their nunbers were growing. In 1998, for
the first tine, the report sinply described the situation and nmade no explicit
recomendations - a clear sign that matters were inproving.

11. M. ATLAN (lsrael) said that the | atest special report, with its
enphasis on a descriptive approach that eschewed the naking of specific
recommendati ons, was an encouragi ng indication that organi zati ons were
adopting a nore bal anced approach in evaluating Israel's efforts to deal with
difficult problenms. He hoped that other committees concerned with such
matters in the territories would adopt a simlar approach

12. The CHAI RPERSON said it was his understanding that recommendati ons had
not been included in the text of the latest |ILO special report because it had
been deci ded that any conclusions having political inplications were now the
responsibility of the conpetent expert committee.

13. M. ATLAN (lsrael) said he believed that the different format of the
| atest report reflected a change of perspective rather than a change in
procedure.

14. M. BLASS (lsrael), replying to questions concerning the possibility of
obtai ning nmedical treatment during closures, said that the question had been
before Israel's Suprene Court on at |east two recent occasions. Inhabitants
of the West Bank who worked at a hospital in Jerusalem had been issued with
permts to receive treatnment there, even at tines of closure, in response to a
petition by the hospital on their behalf. |In addition, Israeli soldiers had
been ordered to give the benefit of the doubt to Pal estinians wi shing to be



E/ C. 12/ 1998/ SR. 33
page 4

al  owed through road blocks in order to receive nedical treatnment. At |east
one case now pending in the Israeli courts concerned mlitary policenmen who
had not permtted such access, despite the validity of the request nmade. It
was not Israel's policy to refuse such legitimte requests for nedica
treatment.

15. The CHAIRPERSON invited the Commttee's Rapporteur, Ms. Bonoan- Dandan
to outline the six key issues on which the Commttee would like to hear the
del egation's replies.

16. Ms. BONOAN- DANDAN said that the first key issue was the permanent
residency |law. Most of the 180,000 Pal estinian residents of East Jerusal em
were classified as permanent residents rather than citizens. That neant they
were regarded as virtual immgrants in a place which they had i nhabited since
| ong before 1967, when Israel had entered East Jerusalem Although the
Government of Israel's reply to the relevant question in the list of issues
descri bed the policy and procedures that applied to all permanent residents of
the State of Israel, it failed to nmention that an unpublished directive issued
i n Decenber 1995 had retroactively changed the policy in respect of

Pal estinians in Jerusalem wth the effect that those who had not resided
continuously within the nunicipality of Jerusalemcould lose their right to
live in the city, even if they had been away for |ess than seven years and had
not becone permanent residents or citizens of another country. She asked the
del egation to clarify that situation, and to explain whether the change al so
affected other residents of the State of Israel

17. The second issue was the Law of Return, which permtted any Jew from
anywhere in the world to mgrate to Pal estine and at the same tine enjoy the
right of Israeli residence and citizenship. Despite the Israeli Government's
assurances that Pal estinians mght also benefit fromthe Law of Return, the
general perception persisted that the | aw prohibited any Pal estini an, whether
Christian or Muslim fromreturning to his honeland. What were the
exacerbating factors in that contradictory situation, and what was the
Government doing to correct that perception?

18. The third key issue was | and use and housing. By 1997, sone 165, 000
Jews had settled in East Jerusalem equalling the nunber of Pal estinian
residents. Since 1967, |srael had subsidized 60,000 housing units for Jews in
East Jerusalem conpared with only 500 units for Pal estinians, the |ast of

whi ch had been approved over 20 years previously. Israel had al so denolished
Pal estinian homes in the city, at an average rate of 50 per year.

19. Over the past decade the Israeli Government's denolition policy had made
over 10,800 Pal estinians honel ess. Their honmes were being destroyed because
they did not possess residence permts, which were expensive and took many
years to process. Famlies had no choice but to build illegally, which nmeant
that they lived in constant fear of |osing everything.

20. In 1996, 108 construction permts had been issued to a Pal estinian
popul ati on of 170,000, though the community required 21,000 housing units
merely to meet existing needs. Finally, although they conprised one third of
Jerusal em s popul ati on, Pal estinians received only 7 per cent of nunicipal
funds.



E/ C. 12/ 1998/ SR. 33
page 5

21. How di d the Governnment of Israel explain all those discrimnatory
practi ces agai nst Pal estinians, which also violated article 11 of the
Covenant ?

22. The fourth issue was unrecogni zed villages. The Governnment had cl ai med
that planning in respect of previously unrecognized villages was a | ong
process. Could the del egation explain why the Governnment seened capabl e of
establishing a number of Jew sh settlements every year, but was unable to
apply the sanme vigour to projects for electrification and the establishnment of
wat er systenms and schools in Arab villages whose occupants were |srael
citizens, had equal rights and paid their taxes just |ike other Israelis?

VWhat did the Government intend to do to alleviate the subhuman Iiving
conditions of the Bedouin who had been placed in canps al ongsi de a rubbish
dunp in Abudis? What specific nmeasures was the Governnent planning for the
Bedoui n who had been forced to nmove fromthe Negev desert to overcrowded
townshi ps such as Rahat, where 80 per cent of the famlies lived below the
poverty line and unenpl oyment was estinmated at 67 per cent? Finally, were the
Bedoui n granted tenure for their dwellings, and could they pass themon to
their children?

23. The fifth key issue was education. Israel's State Conptroller had
repeatedly criticized the discrimnation in the allocation of resources for
Arab education, which had led to significant qualitative differences between
Arab and Jewi sh | evels of education. To what extent had the Governnent
addressed that problem and to what extent were Arabs pernmitted to shape their
educational system according to the collective and individual interests of the
Arab comrunity?

24. The final key issue was health care. One of the objectives of the

| egi sl ati on enacted under the National Health Insurance Law of 1994 was to
guarantee the right to health care. However, the 1998 “Arrangements Law’
seenmed to have eroded the principles of universality and equality enshrined in
the earlier legislation. The Committee would |like to know nore about the
operation of the Arrangenents Law, with particular reference to its positive
effects in regard to the rights referred to in article 12 of the Covenant.

25. M. BLASS (lsrael), replying on the first key issue, said that after

the 1967 war the Palestinians living in Jerusal em had been given the option of
becoming Israeli citizens. The law still offered themthat option, and it was
not the Israeli Governnment's intention to force themto beconme citizens.

26. M s. BONOAN- DANDAN said the Committee was nore concerned with the fact
that the unpublished directive she had nentioned entirely altered the status
of the Palestinians living in Jerusal em

27. M. BLASS (lsrael) said that the regulations to which Ms. Bonoan-Dandan
referred had in fact been published in 1986. They provided that the right to
per manent residency expired when a person lived outside the State of Israe

for nore than seven years. Those regulations fully accorded with the earlier

Entry into Israel Law. Thus, although the issue had been raised in 1995, the
rel evant directive had been issued nuch earlier. 1In response to petitioning



E/ C. 12/ 1998/ SR. 33
page 6

by an NGO, judgenent on the matter was pending in the Israeli Supreme Court.
The regul ations applied to all permanent residents in Israel, and not sinply
to Palestinians living in Jerusal em

28. Concerning the second key issue, the aimof the Law of Return was to
enable Jews fromall over the world to settle in Israel. As such, it
concerned solely Jews. \Whether returning Pal estinians could becone |srael
citizens was a policy question on which Israel took decisions as a sovereign

State, in accordance with the relevant |aws and principles, |ike any other
country.
29. In regard to | and use and housing, it was an undeni able fact that

over 100,000 Israeli Jews had conme to |live within the | arger boundaries of
Jerusal em after 1967. Although a considerable part of the building to
accomodat e that influx was on | and expropriated fromresident Arabs, nuch had
al so been taken from Jews who happened to own | and where new nei ghbour hoods
were to be built. 1In the case of the npbst recent nei ghbourhood buil di ng
project, nost of the | and had been expropriated from Jewi sh owners, sonetines
fromthe Jewi sh National Fund itself. An appeal to the Supreme Court for
reversal of those expropriations had been rejected. Since 1967, although he
did not have exact figures, many thousands of buil dings had been erected for
Pal esti nian occupation in East Jerusalem both legally and illegally, which
were in no danger of denolition

30. He found the figure that had been given of 10,000 homel ess in Jerusal em
difficult to conprehend, since there was no visible presence of honel ess
persons living on the streets. The nunber of houses denolished in recent
years was |l ess than the 50 claimed. Qut of 80 denolition orders issued, no
nmore than 10 to 20 woul d be executed. The building permt situation was

i ndeed unsatisfactory, but the problemlay in the former |and registry system
which made it difficult to prove ownership of |and, w thout which a building
permt could not be issued. Plans were under way to i mprove the situation and
facilitate the issue of building permts. Although the difficulty in
obtaining permts had led to considerable illegal building, the authorities
were generally lenient in their approach, since they had no wi sh to provoke
public protests, and did not issue denolition orders unless a building
conflicted with a specific public interest, as for exanple when a house was
built on | and set aside for the construction of a road and failure to denolish
woul d only encourage further illegal building there. 1t would be inpossible
to manage a nunicipality w thout such provisions. Illegal building was al so a
problemin the Jewi sh sector of Jerusalem Progranmes were under way to

| egal i ze buildings that had been erected illicitly, but such action was not

al ways possible. In 1997, the Israeli Governnent had rmade a | arge sum of
nmoney available to the Jerusalemauthorities to inprove the city's
infrastructure - roads, sewerage, electricity - particularly in its eastern
part. Mre funds for that purpose were needed and it was expected that the
Gover nment woul d supply them

31. M. ATLAN (lsrael) asked what had been the source of the figure quoted
by M's. Bonoan-Dandan for the homeless in Jerusalem The presence of

sonme 10,000 honeless in a city with a popul ation of 600,000 could not fail to
be very conspi cuous, but no problemon that scal e was visible.



E/ C. 12/ 1998/ SR. 33
page 7

32. The CHAI RPERSON said that presumably the figure applied to persons who
had | ost their honmes but were not necessarily without shelter and |iving on
the street.

33. Ms. BONOAN- DANDAN said that the figure of 10,000 was applicable to

a 10-year period. She herself had, in May 1998, personally nmet a nunber of
homel ess famlies in Jerusalemwho were living in tents with services provided
by internati onal agencies.

34. M. BLASS (Israel) said that a few famlies had been living in tents
during the past year only, as a formof protest. He did not know all the
reasons that might | ead people tenmporarily to refuse to nove to a new hone,
but that did not necessarily make them honel ess. Honel essness m ght be an
occasional problembut it was not a generalized phenonenon visible on the
streets of Jerusalem Mdre careful inquiry was needed to ascertain the facts.
There was al so Pal estini an-owned housing Iying enpty in Jerusal em but
unavai l abl e to hone seekers because the owners were asking very high rents or
waiting for rents to rise.

35. As to why settlements were being established while Arab vill ages were
not being inproved, it was always easier to establish a settlenent on | and
where no building yet existed than to plan services for illegally erected

villages with buildings already in existence. Efforts had been nade over the
past three years to provide services for eight formerly unrecogni zed vill ages
in the north of the country that had now been recogni zed. Although faster
progress woul d be preferable, it was hoped to finish the project in another
year or two. The work of the planning authorities was under constant review
and such procedures were expected to nove faster in the future.

36. The witten replies to the list of issues explained the situation with
regard to the Jahalin Bedouin who had been settled in the Negev. At present
the |l awer acting for the group was engaged in negotiations with the Israel
CGovernment over the conditions relating to the site allocated to them The
Government was prepared to |lease land to nenbers of the group on the basis of
25-year contracts. Roads, electricity and water woul d be supplied and
financi al assistance provided. Thus, efforts were being nmade to solve the
humani tari an probleminvolved. As far as he was aware there was nothing to
prevent the Bedouin concerned from passing on their rights to their children
The land in question was State property, public policy throughout Israel being
that such land could not be sold, but only |eased, to private individuals.
Such | eases were for a set period of years and were renewabl e, so there should
be no difficulty in children's taking over a lease. |If the Conmttee had
evidence to the contrary, he undertook to ook into the matter further

37. M. ATLAN (Israel) said he found the figure of 67 per cent unenpl oynent
for the village of Rahat astonishing. The highest rate of unenploynent in the
country generally, found in poorly devel oped towns, and affecting mainly Jews
but al so Arabs and Bedouin, was sone 14 per cent. The higher figure could be
accounted for only if it included not only those on the unenpl oynent register
but everyone living in the village but not working. The sane yardstick, not
the official rate, would have to be applied everywhere to achieve a valid
compari son.



E/ C. 12/ 1998/ SR. 33
page 8

38. The npst recent information in regard to child care was

that 12 nurseries (each caring for sone 100 children aged froma few nonths

to four years) had been established during the past three to four years in
Arab areas where there had been none before. During the sane period,

120 subsi di zed day-care units, in which a nother took care of up to five
children in her home under supervision, had been provided where there had been
none before. In the north, 500 day-care units currently existed, 70 per cent
of them opened in the past three years, in 58 towns and vill ages.

39. M. SHANY (lsrael) said that the lag in the educational field between
the Jewi sh and Arab sectors noted in paragraphs 667-669 of the report was
attributable to insufficient funding in the past. Under the five-year
programe adopted by the Government in 1991 the funding for the Arab

sector had been brought up to the sanme |evel as for the Jewi sh sector
Thirty per cent of the education budget was being allocated to classroom
construction in the Arab sector, which represented | ess than 20 per cent of
the population. |In addition, a |Iong-school-day programre had been introduced
to increase teaching hours in schools, 40 per cent of which were in Arab
muni ci palities and others in towns with m xed popul ati ons. Al t hough

i mprovenent was marked - the acadenmic |evel of Arab teachers was now higher

than that of their Jew sh counterparts - the gap had still not conpletely
closed. The Mnistry of Education had established two new comm ssions to
consider infrastructure and the curriculumfor Arab education. In general the

Arab curriculumwas aligned on Arab needs and interests, providing instruction
on Arab history and literature as well as other subjects. General history and
literature was al so taught, as was Jew sh history and literature, since

know edge of such matters was considered inportant for integration within the
State. The Arab curriculumwas drawn up in consultation with the Arab sector
The head of the Arab Education Departnent in the Mnistry of Education was an
Arab, as was the head of the Arab curriculumsection. Virtually all teachers,
supervi sors and inspectors in Arab schools were Arabs. One new trend that
affected all schools, Jew sh or non-Jewi sh, was to give individual schools
greater control over their curricula and enable themto teach what they w shed
within a very | oose compul sory framework.

40. M. BLASS (Israel) said that, with regard to health, the 1994 Nationa
Heal th I nsurance Law had i ntroduced mandatory insurance for all in replacenent
of the previous voluntary system which had |eft nmany people uncovered in case
of illness. The new system was funded by a tax deduction fromsalaries and a
government contribution. The health budget for 1998 had been set by the
Government at over US$ 3 billion. However, the health funds were having
difficulty in nmeeting all their obligations in view of the ageing of the
popul ati on, the increase in population and the rising cost of health care. To
sol ve that problemthe Government had from Septenber 1998 introduced a series
of charges for the provision of health care, which, after the Knesset had set
an upper limt on the amount, represented 1 per cent of the health budget, a
figure which could not be considered as unreasonabl e under the provisions of
the Covenant. The charges were mininmal, of the order of US$ 2.5 per nedica
prescription or per specialist medical consultation. A detailed Iist of the
charges could be provided to the Committee. A lint was placed on the nonthly
charge payable by patients with chronic conditions, while the treatnent of
sonme | ong-term di seases and conditions was exenpt from charges. The 1994 Law
had made health care available to everyone living in Israel, the Arabs being



E/ C. 12/ 1998/ SR. 33
page 9

the main beneficiaries. Inplenentation of the Law had encouraged the health
funds to provide services in Arab villages and in the past three years many
clinics had been opened in such villages, where few had exi sted before.

41. M. SADI drew attention to reports fromreliable sources about the
construction of an atom c bonb and possible radiative | eaks froman old
nucl ear plant in Israel. Furthernore, it appeared that, whenever there was

the threat of a conflict with Iraq, gas masks were di stributed by Israel
soldiers to Israeli Jews, but not to nmenbers of the Arab population in the

West Bank, although that territory was still within the Israeli security
domai n.

42. Despite the worl dwi de acclamati on of Israel's peace agreenent with
Jordan, Jordanians were still treated as absentee owners by the State of
Israel. That was hardly conducive to the peaceful coexistence of the two
countries.

43. Arabs in Israel still lived in ghettos. Ws it possible, not in |ega

terms but de facto, for an Arab to buy property or live in Western Jerusal en?
Lastly, did the Israeli del egation believe that refugees could invoke the
provi sions of the Covenant in clains relating to the repatriation or
repossessi on of property?

44, M. BLASS (Israel) said he could not throw any light on the reports
about the atom c bonmb or the nuclear plant. |If, however, such reports had any
foundati on, the consequences would be equally serious for Jews and Arabs
alike. As for the question of gas masks, in accordance with agreenents
relating to the division of territorial powers and responsibilities, the

Pal estinian Authority should be responsible for the health of the bulk of the
popul ation in Gaza and Nablus, the only exception being the few thousand

Pal estinians still living in Area C, who were nonetheless free to nove to
Areas A and B if they so w shed.

45, The i ssue of absentee owners was sonewhat broader than M. Sadi's
qguestion inplied and concerned Jordani ans, Jews and people fromall over the
world who at one tine had owned | and and property in what was now | srael
territory. An appeal had recently been rejected by the Suprenme Court
concerning an Israeli Jew who had owned property in the Wst Bank prior

to 1948 and had subsequently lost it under the Jordani an custodial regine.

46. He rejected the assertion that Arabs lived in ghettos in Israel. There
was no | egal obstacle to Arabs renting or |easing property on State-owned | and
in Western Jerusalemor any other city in the State of Israel. Private

property was of course a different matter, but nost of the land in Israel was
owned by the State; different regulations applied to property owned by the
Jewi sh National Fund. Adnmittedly, there mght be practical problens in daily
life: Othodox Jews might not wish to rent property to Arabs fearing its
effects on the nei ghbourhood.

47. He did not believe that problens relating to refugees fell within the
scope of the Covenant. It was a conplex issue, which required nmultilatera
negoti ati ons between the parties concerned.



E/ C. 12/ 1998/ SR. 33
page 10

48. M. WMR ZAMBRANO regretted that there had not been any opportunity to
focus the debate on what he deemed the nost inportant issue, nanely whet her
the policies of the State party were contrary to the provisions of the
Covenant. He wished to provide sone statistical information which bore out
the widely held view that |Israel had pursued a policy of internal colonialism
and, together with Zionist organizations, had used every possible neans to
expropriate land fromits rightful owners.

49. Jews now owned 93 per cent of the territory of Israel, as conpared

with 5.6 per cent in 1947, the year of the division of Palestine. The

Pal esti nian community was growi ng fast and it was reckoned that by the year
2020 Pal estinians woul d represent 25 per cent of the population. The sooner

| srael accepted the nmulti-ethnic nature of the nation, the sooner peace would
be established and international treaties such as the Covenant would be fully
conplied wth.

50. An exanple of Israeli policy that ran counter to the Covenant was its
violations of the right proclainmed in article 11 to an adequate standard of
living, including housing. He cited: nmassive expropriation of Palestinian

| and since 1967, with deportation or expul sion of Pal estinians; destruction of
homes and entire villages (385 since 1975); abuse of water resources (average
annual consunption 2,000 cubic nmetres per Israeli and 150 cubic netres per

Pal estinian); building of Jewi sh settlenments on confiscated or occupied
territory (194 since 1967). Those and other violations were the result of
policies which accorded supremacy to one ethnic group to the detrinment of

others. Such problens could not be resolved until Israel guaranteed equa

| egal and political rights for all its citizens.

51. M. BLASS (lsrael) said he was not in a position to comrent in detail on
the statistics provided, apart from agreeing, |like nmost Israelis, that

occupation of territory was not a satisfactory solution. Since 1993 efforts
had been under way to resolve the very conpl ex problem of occupied
territories, involving |ong and arduous negoti ations. Perhaps some of the
statistics nmentioned related to |and that had already been transferred to the
Pal estinian authority as a result of such negotiations. Efforts along those
lines would be pursued in the light of the ratification the previous day by
the Israeli Parlianent of the We River agreenment. Problens relating to

settl enents, borders, water resources and refugees would be dealt with as part
of that process, and he hoped that acceptable solutions would eventually be
found. Hi s delegation had endeavoured to concentrate on |l egal matters
relating to the inplenentation of the Covenant, rather than entering into a
political debate, which hardly seened appropriate in such a forum He
confirmed that 93 per cent of the territory of Israel was currently owned by
the State. However, that did not hinder Arabs fromliving there; indeed, nost
Bedoui n vill ages had been built on such | and.

52. M. AHMED observed that the Law of Return all owed people of Jew sh
origin, who had never set foot in Israel before, to acquire |srael
citizenship upon their arrival. |In recent years many Russi ans and Et hi opi ans
had benefited fromthat law. Yet now apparently the npst senior Rabbinica
authorities in Israel had decided that those inmgrants were not really Jews.
What woul d becone of them and would they be allowed to stay in the State of



E/ C. 12/ 1998/ SR. 33
page 11

Israel? Why were Pal estinians of Israeli birth or ancestry, but who had spent
nmore than seven years abroad, not granted simlar privileges? Ws that not
tantamount to discrimnation?

53. He requested the Israeli delegation to provide, at its own conveni ence,
a statistical breakdown of |and expropriated from Jews and other ethnic
groups.

54. Wth regard to education he had two main concerns. The first related to
the declaration by a Supreme Court judge that educati on was not recogni zed as
a constitutional right. Secondly, he was interested to note fromstatistics
provided in the report and el sewhere, that the school drop-out rate anong
Arabs aged 14 to 17 was twice as high as anobng Jews. Also, approximtely four
times as many Arabs as Jews failed to reach twelfth grade. The schoo

drop-out rate of ethnic Ethiopians was al so very high - around 45 per cent.
Only 5.3 per cent of university students were Arabs, though Arabs represented
some 20 per cent of the popul ation

55. I srael enjoyed a reputation for having an excellent health-care system
yet many poor Arabs did not have access to it. Likew se, they were deprived
of essential services and facilities such as housing, water and refuse
collection. Howdid the State of Israel intend to deal with such glaring

di screpanci es?

56. O her causes of concern included the denolition of the houses of

i nnocent people as a formof collective punishment in retaliation for
terrorist attacks and the abuse of water resources by Israeli settlers in Gaza
and the West Bank.

57. M. BLASS (Israel), responding to conments on the Law of Return

remar ked that those responsible for killing and torturing Jews in
concentration canps had not scrupul ously verified whether they were Ot hodox
Jews; their Jewish ancestry had sufficed. He confirned that, as a Jew sh
State, Israel encouraged the return of Jews and that the law in question
applied to the sons and grandsons of Jews, for experience had shown that such
persons m ght need protection. In viewof its small size, Israel had to be
rigorous in its inmgration policies. Wth regard to permanent residents, if
before | eaving the country they acquired Israeli citizenship, they would be
allowed to return even after a | apse of seven years. The fact was that nmany
per manent residents of Palestinian origin refused Israeli citizenship, thereby
forfeiting their right to return. However, an exception was nmade for fornmer
resi dents who could prove that they had spent nore than seven years abroad
studyi ng and had not gone with the intention of changing their place of
residence. Such clains were of course vetted by the conpetent authorities.
He coul d provide statistics on the subject if necessary.

58. It would, however, be difficult to provide statistics on |and
confiscation along the lines requested by M. Ahmed, for |and had been
confiscated over the years under different regulations for a variety of

pur poses, such as building roads, arny training, or electricity and water
supplies. There was the additional aspect of absentee property, to which
different legislation applied. He did not deny that nuch |and had been
confiscated since the founding of the State of Israel, but statistics thereon



E/ C. 12/ 1998/ SR. 33
page 12

were not available and it would be an extremely conplex and time-consum ng
task to conpile them In any case, it seened nore appropriate to | ook forward
and assess whet her the Governnment was allocating sufficient land to provide
for the future needs of the Israeli popul ation

59. The CHAI RPERSON di sagreed; the Committee al so needed information on the
situation in the reporting country in the distant and recent past. In view of
the grave concerns expressed concerning expropriation of |land and property, it
woul d be advisable for the delegation to nmake an effort to provide such

i nformati on in due course.

60. M. BLASS (Israel) said it was not his intent to conceal information
Any relevant data avail able would be forwarded to the Committee. The problem
was that data were collected by the different entities (town councils,
electricity boards, etc.) responsible for the confiscation and it would take
considerable tine to prepare statistics with a breakdown by ethnic origin

61. M. SHANY (Israel) said that the current situation with regard to the
constitutional status of the right to educati on was expl ai ned in paragraph 609
of the initial report (E/ 1990/5/Add.39). It was to be hoped that the
situation would i nprove once the rel evant Basic Law had been passed. Free
education, equality of education and freedom of choice in education were
undoubtedly recognized in Israeli |aw, and the absence of their constitutiona
recognition had not led to problems. The report acknow edged the educationa
di sparities between the Jewi sh and Arab sectors, and resources were being
allocated to rectifying them Twelfth grade education was free but not

compul sory: hence the | arger nunber of students dropping out of the |ast year
of school. The statistics on university education were distorted by the fact
that proportionally nore Arab than Jew sh students chose to pursue their

uni versity studies abroad. Ethiopian Jewi sh students certainly experienced
considerable difficulty in integrating in the Israeli education system
principally because of the marked differences fromthe Ethiopian system An
Et hi opi an Jewi sh student was typically allocated four times the resources

all ocated to any other Jew sh student.

62. M. BLASS (lsrael) said that under Defence Regulation No. 119 of 1945, a
| egacy of the British authorities, the MIlitary Governor could authorize the
denolition of a house occupied by a terrorist or used to conceal amrunition
That power had been used very seldom and only after the nost carefu
consideration, chiefly as a response to the intractable problem of suicide
bonbers. There was sone evidence that the nmeasure had a deterrent effect.
Care was taken to ensure that other fam lies did not suffer in consequence.

Mor eover, al though such action was theoretically authorized under Regul ation
No. 119, no village had ever been destroyed in retaliation for the act of an

i ndi vi dual

63. M. AHMED said he had in mind recent television coverage of an incident
in which the dwelling of two innocent Arab women in the West Bank had been
denol i shed under the supervision of the Israeli arnmed forces, |eaving them
honel ess, because the site was wanted for the construction of a Jew sh

settl enent.



E/ C. 12/ 1998/ SR. 33
page 13

64. M. BLASS (lsrael) said he was not famliar with the case alluded to.
However, he had absolutely no doubt that the house in question had been
denol i shed, not in order to nake roomfor a Jew sh settlenent, but because
it had been erected wi thout planning perm ssion

65. The issue of water rights was dealt with in detail in article 40 of the
third annex to the Interim Agreement of Septenber 1995. Under that agreenent,
I srael had undertaken to supply 19,000 cubic metres of water per day to the
Pal estinians. |In actual fact it supplied a considerably greater

anount - between 23,000 and 25,000 cubic netres per day. Specific water
supply problens that arose were attributable to a variety of |oca
difficulties.

66. M . MARCHAN ROVERO sai d he was not convinced by the Israeli delegation's
attenpts to justify its failure to produce statistics. According to

par agraph 20 of Israel's witten replies to the list of issues, |and
expropriated in East Jerusalemwas to be used to provide housing for non-Jews
and Jews alike. However, according to statistics he had obtained from

one NGO, that |and had been used al nost entirely for the construction of

about 40, 000 housing units for Jews, and al nost none had been allocated to
Arabs. How could those figures be reconciled with the provisions of the
Covenant concerning non-discrimnation and the right to housi ng?

67. M. BLASS (Israel) noted that M. Ahned s question was nuch broader in
scope than M. Marchan Romero's. It was difficult to know how to set about

gathering rel evant statistics when the i ssue addressed had not been clearly

defined. However, he would endeavour to produce statistics relating to both
guesti ons.

68. M. RIEDEL endorsed other nenbers' expressions of concern on the
guestion of equality of treatnment in matters of |and expropriation. Wth
regard to rates of matriculation, he noted fromthe report of the Israe
Committee for Equality in Education (H LA) that, in the devel opment towns and
poor nei ghbour hoods, considerably fewer resources were devoted to Israelis of
African or Asian descent and immgrants from Ethi opia and the Commpnweal t h of

I ndependent States (CI'S) countries than to other Jews. That allegation did
not tally with the Israeli delegation's assertion that proportionately

four times nore resources were allocated to those groups. Wat was being done
to inprove the situation?

69. On special education, it was alleged that the drug ritalin, which was

addi ctive and had severe side effects, was forcibly adm nistered to children
suffering from hyperactivity or attention problens. \What was being done to

stop those illegal practices?

70. It was also alleged that children suffering fromrelatively mld
disabilities were frequently placed in the system established under the 1998
Speci al Education Law to deal with children suffering fromsevere disabilities
such as autismor with violent tendencies. Not only did such children's
academ c performance soon decline, but it seenmed that the onus of proving

that their children did not need special education was on the parents, who



E/ C. 12/ 1998/ SR. 33
page 14

apparently did not even enjoy the right to be heard by the placenent
conmittee. In countries such as the United Kingdomand Italy the burden
of proof in such cases lay with the State.

71. M. SHANY (lsrael), clarifying his earlier statement, said that

nmore teachi ng hours were allocated to Ethiopian Jewi sh students than to
non- Et hi opi an Jewi sh students. In budgetary terns, that represented

four times nore financial resources per capita. Wile it was unrealistic

to expect imediate results, there were already encouragi ng signs: nore

Et hi opi an Jews now took matricul ati on exam nati ons and attended university,;

a parallel - albeit slower - inprovenment was noted in the devel opment towns.
Par agraph 34 of Israel's replies to the list of issues detailed sonme of the
speci al progranmes designed to produce better matricul ati on exam nati on scores
in underprivileged areas.

72. Forcible adm nistration of ritalin was illegal in Israel. The problem
as also in the case of children placed in special education, lay not with the
law but with its inplenmentation. Donestic renmedies were available to the
parents of the children affected. There had formerly been a tendency to pl ace
all disruptive pupils in special education, sonetinmes w thout any rea
justification. Such pupils were now normally accommodated in the ordinary
system through recourse to special programes and teacher training. Over

the past decade the proportion of pupils in special education had fallen
significantly.

73. Ms. JI MENEZ BUTRAGUENO asked whether there were any programres designed
to bring the Jewi sh and Arab cultures closer together, or to teach human

rights in schools and to the police and arnmed forces. Not enough information
had been provided on the status of Arab and Jewi sh women. She al so asked for
additional information on fanmly reunification, particularly of Palestinians.

74. Section 4 D of the report of the NGO Betsel em (Save the Chil dren)
referred to the situation in the occupied territories with regard to child

| abour, which was often crucial to famlies' very survival. Sonething nmust be
done to ensure that children were not conpelled to work by econom c necessity.
On the question of housing, she asked whether any Pal estinian settlenents had
been constructed recently, and whether any incentives were offered for their
construction. She also asked whet her Pal estinian children enjoyed the sanme
right to special education as did Jewi sh children. Lastly, she hoped to be
able to read in Israel's next report that Pal estinian and Jew sh children
attended the same schools, thereby fostering intercultural understanding.

75. M. SHANY (lsrael) said that section 2 of the witten replies to the
list of issues gave details of programmes already undertaken in schools

i nvol ving the joint teaching of subjects to Arabs and Jews, and to secul ar and
non- secul ar Jews. Several State-financed NGOs conducted training semnars

on human rights for the police and arned forces. A Foreign Ofice

“peopl e-to- peopl e worki ng group” was entrusted with the task of fostering

cl oser understandi ng between the comunities. One of the findings of the
Kremmitzer report on the reformof civics educati on had been that incul cation
of such values needed to be inproved, with instruction provided fromthe
outset of formal education. Those findings had been adopted by the M nister
of Education, and teachers were being trained accordingly.



E/ C. 12/ 1998/ SR. 33
page 15

76. M. ATLAN (lsrael) said that the reason why the initial report contained
relatively little information on the situation of wonen and children was that
conprehensive information on the fornmer had been presented in the report
(CEDAW C/ | SR/ 1-2) submitted to the Cormittee on the Elimnation of

Di scrim nati on agai nst Worren in 1997, while Israel was due to submt its
report to the Cormittee on the Rights of the Child shortly. [Israel was
subjected to close scrutiny by the I1LO on all |abour issues, including child

| abour. He had been unable to trace the allegation referred to by M. Texier
that Israel was in breach of ILO Convention No. 111

77. M. BLASS (lsrael) said that, according to information he had obtained
fromthe mlitary authorities, nore than 3,000 housing units had been
constructed or extended wi thout planning perm ssion in the Wst Bank over the
past three years. It was an indication of the true policy of the Jerusal em
muni ci pality that none of those illegal structures was to be denolished. In
that regard he referred the Commttee to paragraph 21 of the witten replies
to the Iist of issues.

78. The CHAI RPERSON sai d that, whatever the outcome, the dial ogue between
the Committee and the Israeli del egation had been a very rewardi ng process.
The role of NGCs, their interaction with the del egation, and the latter's
responsi veness to the issues posed had resulted in a very satisfactory
exchange.

79. M. BLASS (lsrael) said that the dial ogue in which his del egati on had
engaged with the Commttee would be fruitful both for the Governnment and for
the popul ation as a whole, and would give a further boost to the positive
trend towards realization of economc, social and cultural rights already
apparent in his country.

80. The del egation of |srael withdrew

The neeting rose at 1.05 p.m




